ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

JUN 23 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Greenville County
Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

PATRICK DEAN LOWRANCE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000320

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

David S. Jones
Private Appointed Counsel (pro-bono)

Law Office of David S. Jones
111 Executive Point Blvd., Ste. D
Columbia, SC 29210
803-250-6345

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Was Officer Cruell's single-photo identification of Mr. Lowrance after being given his name as a suspect so unduly suggestive and unreliable that allowing Officer Cruell to identify Mr. Lowrance to the jury violated Mr. Lowrance's right to due process of law under Neil v. Biggers and State v. Moore?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"In reviewing mixed questions of law and fact, where the evidence supports but one reasonable inference, the question becomes a matter of law for the court. Generally, the decision to admit an eyewitness identification is at the trial judge's discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of such, or . . . prejudicial legal error. However, an eyewitness identification which is unreliable because of suggestive line-up procedures is constitutionally inadmissible as a matter of law." State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282 at 288, 540 S.E.2d 445 (2000) (internal citations omitted).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Patrick Dean Lowrance was indicted on five charges on March 20, 2012. Indictments. The charges included possession of a stolen motor vehicle, failure to stop for blue lights, two counts of attempted murder (of Taci Cobb and Charles Lane), and possession of a weapon during the commission of a crime. Indictments. Mr. Lowrance was first tried on all five charges on October 8-11, 2012. Prior to the commencement of that trial, Judge John conducted evidentiary hearings, including a hearing pursuant Neil v. Biggers as to whether Officer Cruell would be permitted to identify Mr. Lowrance to the jury as the man she saw walking through the hotel lobby shortly before the shooting. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 55, line 19 – p. 56, line 8. Judge John ruled that the identification would be allowed, and Officer Cruell did identify Mr. Lowrance to the jury. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 68, line 22 – p. 69, line 10; p. 86, lines 10-17. That jury convicted Mr. Lowrance on the charge of possession of a stolen motor vehicle, and did not reach an agreement on the remaining charges. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 346, lines 1-7. Mr. Lowrance was sentenced to "three years, suspended, placed on probation for one year", and given credit for time served. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 346, lines 1-7.

Mr. Lowrance was retried on the remaining four charges on January 7-10, 2013. Judge Letitia Verdin adopted Judge John's pretrial evidentiary rulings as *res judicata*, and noted at the conclusion of the trial that all previous motions were preserved. 1/7/13 Tr. p. 16, lines 1-25. Officer Cruell identified Mr. Lowrance to the jury at this trial also. 1/7/13 Tr. p. 121, lines 4-15. That jury convicted Mr. Lowrance on all four remaining charges. 1/7/13 Tr. p. 694, lines 6-18. Mr. Lowrance was sentenced to twenty-eight years for each murder charge, and five years for the weapons charge, all running concurrently; and three years for the failure to stop charge. 1/7/13 Tr. p. 711, lines 7-14. Mr. Lowrance was given credit for time served. He now appeals those convictions.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 28, 2011, Officer Brittany Cruell, of Greenville City Police, was conducting a routine patrol through the parking lot of the Comfort Inn located on Laurens Road in Greenville, SC when she discovered that a Chevy Tahoe in the parking lot bore a license plate registered to another vehicle. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 79, lines 8-20. Officer Cruell entered the lobby of the hotel with Officer Charles Lane and asked the staff about the vehicle. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 79, lines 23-24. While she was speaking with the staff, a man walked through the lobby. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 79, line 25. Officer Cruell described "just briefly" seeing an "older" black male wearing a grey shirt with "longer hair." 10/8/12 Tr. p. 59, line 12 – p. 62, line 25. Officer Lane did not observe this man. Shortly after this man passed through the lobby, the Chevy Tahoe left the parking lot, and Officer Cruell pursued it. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 80, line 2 – p. 81, line 23. Once on the interstate, Officer Cruell put on her flashing blue lights. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 82, lines 3-17. Instead of stopping, the driver of the Tahoe exited the road and increased speed to the point where Officer Cruell ceased pursuit. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 84, lines 1-8.

Officer Taci Cobb later located the same Tahoe in the parking lot of a nearby apartment building, announced it on the radio, and Officer Lane responded to her call. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 84, lines 16-21. Officers Cobb then entered the breezeway of the apartment building, where she was fired upon from the top of the stairs with a 9mm handgun. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 101, lines 8-25. Officer Cobb returned fire. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 102, lines 22-24. Officer Lane came to assist Officer Cobb, and also was fired upon. Neither of the officers was actually hit by any of the shots fired. Moreover, neither of the officers was able to clearly see the shooter. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 105, lines 5-10. Officer Cobb testified that the stairwell was dark, and the most that she was able to determine from the muzzle

flashes was that shooter was a black male. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 102, line 14 – p. 111, line 5. This shooter apparently left the building without being apprehended.

A subsequent investigation located personal items belonging to Patrick Dean Lowrance at the hotel and in a duffel bag at the apartment building. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 131, line 4 – p. 137, line 9. Mr. Lowrance later surrendered to the police without incident when he was located at a friend's house on the evening of the day of the shooting. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 138, line 1 – p. 141, line 13. It is not clear from the transcript how the police located Mr. Lowrance. Mr. Lowrance had suffered a gunshot wound in his shoulder, and a 9mm handgun was located in the bedroom of the house where Mr. Lowrance was found. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 152, line 9 – p. 155 line 24. Officers later determined that the Chevy Tahoe had been stolen. Forensic tests found Mr. Lowrance's fingerprints on the Chevy Tahoe, and on items inside. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 202, line 18 – p. 205, line 9. Tests also found his DNA on the exterior of the handgun used in the shooting, but not on the magazine containing bullets stored inside the grip of the handgun. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 211, line 5 – p. 218, line 24.

The day after the shooting, Officer Cruell was given Mr. Lowrance's name as a suspect in the shooting. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 64, lines 21-25. Without any other instruction, and apparently without any other officers present, Officer Cruell used a computer to view a mug shot of Mr. Lowrance. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 65, lines 4-18. No line-up was conducted and no other photographs were viewed. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 67, line 3 – p. 68 line 5. Based on viewing this single photograph, Officer Cruell testified that she identified Mr. Lowrance as the black male whom she briefly observed walking through the hotel lobby the day before. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 66, line 8 – p. 68, line 5.

Mr. Lowrance testified at both trials in his own defense. He described for the jury how he had recently associated with new friends following his marital separation, one of whom was known to Mr. Lowrance by his street name, "Meat;" apparently a shortened version of "Lametrius." 1/7/13

Tr. p. 562, line 9. Mr. Lowrance testified that he had ridden in the Chevy Tahoe, believing that Lametrius owned the vehicle. 1/7-10/13 Tr. p. 569, line 14 – p. 570 line 1. Mr. Lowrance testified that he had been staying at the hotel and had a party the night before with several friends, including Lametrius. 1/7-10/13 Tr. p. 567, lines 11-25. Mr. Lowrance testified that he had been smoking marijuana during that party. 1/7-10/13 Tr. p. 568, line 7. Mr. Lowrance's testimony also described how it was Lametrius who walked through the lobby to the vehicle which he appeared to own, drove it from the hotel, and fled from the blue lights. 1/7-10/13 Tr. p. 570, line 15 – p. 573 line 14. Mr. Lowrance testified that he was in the car with Lametrius and another man at the time, but that Lametrius drove. 1/7-10/13 Tr. p. 570, line 15 – p. 573 line 14. Mr. Lowrance testified also that he was at the scene of the crime when Lametrius shot at the officers. 1/7-10/13 Tr. p. 576, line 19 – p. 578 line 11. Mr. Lowrance was shot in the exchange, fled the building, and lay in the woods behind the apartment building. 1/7-10/13 Tr. p. 578, line 12 – p. 579 line 21. Mr. Lowrance described how he lost consciousness for several hours after Lametrius walked by him, and placed the handgun with Mr. Lowrance. 1/7-10/13 Tr. p. 580, line 6 – p. 581 line 19. Mr. Lowrance regained consciousness later in the evening, contacted a friend, and was taken to the house where he later surrendered to police. 1/7-10/13 Tr. p. 582, line 4 – p. 585 line 9.

ARGUMENT

The Court below committed prejudicial error and deprived Mr. Lowrance of due process of law by finding that Officer Cruell's identification of Mr. Lowrance was sufficiently reliable to be presented to the jury, pursuant to Neil v. Biggers. Under Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 93 S.Ct. 375, 34 L.Ed.2d 401 (1972), if an identification of a suspect is found to be suggestive, that identification should be kept from the jury unless it is sufficiently reliable under the totality of the circumstances. As our state's Supreme Court explained in State v. Moore, Biggers sets out a two-

pronged approach where the court first considers "whether the identification process was unduly suggestive"; and if so, the court then considers "whether the . . . identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed." State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282 at 287, 540 S.E.2d 445 (2000). This is a mixed question of fact and law for the trial judge, who should not allow a suggestive identification to reach the jury unless the judge finds it to be sufficiently reliable. Id. at 288, 289, 540 S.E.2d at 447.

An identification of a suspect by a witness who is presented one option, absent a line-up, is almost certainly unduly suggestive. As stated by our Supreme Court, "[s]ingle person show-ups are particularly disfavored in the law." State v. Moore, 343 S.C. at 287, 540 S.E.2d at 448. Other courts have described single person show-ups as "inherently suggestive," Jefferson v. State, 206 Ga.App. 544, 425 S.E.2d 915, 918 (1992), and "widely condemned," Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293, 87 S.Ct. 1967, 18 L.Ed. 2d 1199 (1967).

Reliability is determined by a totality of the circumstances test, where the court considers "the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime, the witness's degree or attention, the accuracy of the witness's prior description of the criminal, the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and the length of time between the crime and the confrontation." Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. at 199, 93 S.Ct. at 382.

In this case, although the court below did mention factors relating to both prongs, the court did not explicitly rule on the two separate prongs, and instead simply found that the in-court identification would be allowed. That decision constitutes reversible error, because Officer Cruell's identification was both unduly suggestive and unreliable, and Mr. Lowrance was prejudiced by her identification to the jury.

Officer Cruell's single-photograph identification of Mr. Lowrance as the man she saw in the hotel was unduly suggestive. Officer Cruel only identified Mr. Lowrance from a single mug shot, of a person who does not match the description in her police report, the day after the crime was committed after being told that he was in custody related to the shooting and the possession of the stolen vehicle. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 66, line 8 – p. 68, line 5. She personally sought out this photograph only after being given Mr. Lowrance's name, and located Mr. Lowrance's photograph by searching for it by name - no other possibilities were considered, offered, or provided. There was no line-up of other possible suspects. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 67, line 3 – p. 68 line 5. No other officers were present to oversee the process; nor were there any other controls over the suggestiveness of the identification. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 67, line 3 – p. 68 line 5. Officer Cruell simply was given a name, found a photograph, and concluded that Mr. Lowrance was the man she briefly observed walking past her the day before while she was speaking with someone else.

In addition to being unduly suggestive, Officer Cruell's single-photograph identification was unreliable. Officer Cruell only observed the man whom she later identified as Mr. Lowrance as he was walking through the hotel lobby. 10/8/12 Tr. p. 59, line 13. Officer Cruel testified that she paid attention "just briefly" at most, but also testified that she first testified that while she conversed with hotel staff, she "[got] a glimpse of him" for "five minutes," but later said that she was only able to observe this man for "maybe about a minute." By her own testimony officer Cruell "didn't pay a lot of attention to him." 1/7-10/13 Tr. p. 106, line 9-10. The behavior displayed by that man at the time of his exit was not criminal in nature and was so mundane that officer Cruell "barely noticed him" and her partner didn't notice him at all. 1/7-10-13 Tr. p. 106, line 6-7. The description by Officer Cruell of that unknown man correctly describes Mr. Lowrance in only one characteristic - his race. Officer Cruell never had "the opportunity . . . to view the criminal at the time of the crime" nor any

reason to pay attention to someone leaving a hotel lobby in the morning. Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. at 199, 93 S.Ct. at 382. Therefore, Officer Cruel did not have a good opportunity to view the man walking past her, and her identification is unreliable.

As to the accuracy and certainty of her description, Officer Cruell's report stated that she had observed a man that might have had "longer" hair, and maybe pulled his hair back "in a ponytail," but agreed with defense counsel that Mr. Lowrance did not have long hair when she identified him as the man she saw. 1/7-10/13 Tr. p. 106, line 16 - p. 130, line 1. Furthermore, Mr. Lowrance admits that he had been smoking marijuana before he left the hotel, but Officer Cruell makes no mention of smelling it when the man walked by her. 1/7-10/13 Tr. p. 568, line 7. Officer Cruell surely has been trained on the smell of marijuana, and would likely have taken the opportunity to question someone who smelled like they had recently been smoking it. Taken together with the suggestiveness of Officer Cruell's identification, the court below should have concluded that the process was so suggestive and open to mistake that Officer Cruell's identification of Mr. Lowrance as the man walking through the lobby should have been kept from the jury.