ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-000320

RECEIVED
APR 14 2016
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

PATRICK DEAN LOWRANCE,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North Street, Suite 325
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Appellant's claim that the trial court committed prejudicial error and deprived him of due process of law in failing to suppress Officer Cruell's in-court identification testimony is not preserved for appellate review because Appellant failed to object to the identification by way of a pretrial motion at his second trial and also failed to object when the testimony was offered at either trial. In addition, even if preserved, the trial court properly allowed the identification because the out-of-court lineup identification did not result from unduly suggestive police procedures and was so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed.

Appellant argues the trial court committed prejudicial error and deprived him of due process of law by finding Officer Cruell's identification was sufficiently reliable to be presented to the jury. This argument is not preserved for appellate review because Appellant failed to make any pretrial motion to suppress the identification at his second trial and because Appellant failed to object to the identification evidence when it was offered to the jury at either his first or second trial. Furthermore, even if Appellant's pretrial objection from his first trial was sufficient to preserve this issue for appeal, there was ample evidence supporting the circuit court's decision where: (1) the out-of-court photo identification did not result from unduly suggestive police procedures; and (2) under the totality of the circumstances the out-of-court identification was so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. Finally, any error in the admission of Officer Cruell's identification testimony was harmless given the cumulative nature of the evidence under Appellant's theory of defense and given the other overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. For all of these reasons, Appellant's challenge to Officer Cruell's identification testimony should be dismissed and his convictions should be affirmed.

Issue Preservation

Initially, Appellant's argument is not preserved for review because Appellant failed to seek an in camera hearing on the in-court identification at his second trial. A mistrial is the equivalent of no trial and leaves the cause pending in the circuit court. State v. Woods, 382 S.C. 153, 158, 676 S.E.2d 128, 131 (2009); State v. Smith, 336 S.C. 39, 43, 518 S.E.2d 294, 296 (Ct. App. 1999). Thus, a court ruling as to admissibility and competency of testimony during a trial which is later declared a mistrial results in no binding adjudication of the rights of the parties. Woods, 382 S.C. at 158, 676 S.E.2d at 131; Keels v. Powell, 213 S.C. 570, 572, 50 S.E.2d 704, 705 (1948); Smith, 336 S.C. at 43, 518 S.E.2d at 296. "Because a mistrial is the equivalent of no trial, the trial judge could not rely on any evidentiary rulings from the nugatory proceeding." Smith, 336 S.C. at 43-44, 518 S.E.2d at 296. Thus, despite defense counsel's mistaken belief that res judicata applied in regard to the pretrial evidentiary rulings from his first trial, and the trial judge's mistaken belief that she was bound by Judge John's prior evidentiary decisions, the effect of the hung jury and the mistrial on the charges which are the subject of the second trial was to render the first trial nugatory. By failing to move to suppress Officer Cruell's identification at the second trial, failing to request a Neil v. Biggers hearing at the second trial, or otherwise failing to object to the identification, Appellant waived any right he had to challenge the out-of-court identification procedure or the in-court identification on appeal, and the issue is not preserved for appellate review.

In addition, Appellant's argument is not preserved for review because Appellant failed to object when the identification evidence was presented to the jury at either his first or second trial. Generally, a motion in limine seeks a pretrial evidentiary ruling to

prevent the disclosure of potentially prejudicial evidence to the jury, and a ruling on such a motion is preliminary and subject to change based on developments during trial. State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 32, 522 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1999). A ruling on a motion in limine does not constitute a final ruling on the admissibility of evidence. State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 42, 479 S.E.2d 57, 60 (1996). Therefore, an objection must be made at the time the evidence is introduced during trial in order to preserve the issue for appellate review. State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993); State v. Atieh, 397 S.C. 641, 646, 725 S.E.2d 730, 733 (Ct. App. 2012); State v. Burton, 326 S.C. 605, 609, 486 S.E.2d 762, 764 (Ct. App. 1997). “However, where a judge makes a ruling on the admission of evidence on the record immediately prior to the introduction of the evidence in question, the aggrieved party does not need to renew the objection.” State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001). Additionally, if the trial court clearly indicates its ruling is final rather than preliminary, the issue is preserved for appellate review. State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 157, 679 S.E.2d 172, 175 (2009); Atieh, 397 S.C. at 647, 725 S.E.2d at 733.

In the instant case, Appellant failed to preserve any challenge to the identification evidence for appellate review. Before the jury was sworn in the first trial, the trial court held a Neil v. Biggers hearing regarding the reliability of Cruell’s out-of-court identification of Appellant and the admissibility of the identification testimony the State was considering offering at trial. The trial judge issued a preliminary ruling finding the identification process was not unduly suggestive and that the identification itself was reliable. Following an introductory jury charge and opening statements, the State called Officer Cruell to the stand to tell the jury about her investigation at the Comfort Inn and

her pursuit of the GMC Yukon. During Cruell's testimony, the State sought to elicit the identification evidence addressed in the trial court's pretrial ruling. Cruell proceeded to describe her out-of-court identification of Appellant and then she made an in-court identification of Appellant. Appellant did not object to or otherwise attempt to renew any his pretrial challenge to Cruell's identification. Similarly at the second trial, Appellant did not object to or otherwise attempt to renew any previous challenge to Cruell's identification testimony when it was offered to the jury.

Because Appellant did not make a contemporaneous objection to any identification evidence elicited during trial in the jury's presence, he failed to preserve any issue related to the trial court's pretrial rulings on the identifications by Cruell. See State v. Turner, 373 S.C. 121, 126, n.1, 644 S.E.2d 693, 696 (2007) (finding the issue regarding an in-court identification was not preserved when the appellant objected pre-trial to a suggestive identification procedure and again during trial to the procedure but never objected to the subsequent in-court identification). Therefore, this issue is not preserved for further review. To the extent this Court finds the identification issue was properly preserved, the State submits it is nevertheless without merit.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). The admission of evidence is within the sound discretion of the circuit court. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 166, 682 S.E.2d 19, 30 (Ct. App. 2009). Accordingly, a circuit court's decision to allow the in-court

identification of an accused will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion or prejudicial legal error. Id.; State v. Govan, 373 S.C. 552, 556, 643 S.E.2d 92, 94 (Ct. App. 2007). “To warrant reversal based on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the appellant must prove both the error of the ruling and the resulting prejudice, i.e., that there is a reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof.” State v. Singleton, 395 S.C. 6, 13-14, 716 S.E.2d 332, 335-36 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005)).

Discussion / Analysis

An out-of-court identification of the defendant violates due process and must be suppressed when the identification procedure used by police was impermissibly suggestive and conducive to a substantial likelihood of misidentification. State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 138, 727 S.E.2d 422, 425 (2012); State v. Dukes, 404 S.C. 553, 557-58, 745 S.E.2d 137, 139 (Ct. App. 2013). A witness's subsequent in-court identification is inadmissible “if a suggestive out-of-court identification procedure created a very substantial likelihood of *irreparable* misidentification.” State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 81, 600 S.E.2d 523, 526 (2004) (emphasis added). Trial courts employ a two-pronged inquiry to determine whether due process requires suppression of an out-of-court eyewitness identification. Liverman, 398 S.C. at 138, 727 S.E.2d at 426. First, the court must determine whether the identification resulted from “unnecessarily suggestive” police procedures. Biggers, 409 U.S. at 198-99; Liverman, 398 S.C. at 138, 727 S.E.2d at 426; Traylor, 360 S.C. at 81, 600 S.E.2d at 526. If the court finds the identification did not result from impermissibly suggestive police procedures, the inquiry ends there and

the court does not need to consider the second prong. State v. Dukes, 404 S.C. 553, 557-58, 745 S.E.2d 137, 139 (Ct. App. 2013). The defendant bears the burden of proving the identification procedure was impermissibly suggestive. Id. at 561, 745 S.E.2d at 141 (“Our supreme court has never placed the burden of disproving suggestiveness on the State. The Fourth Circuit, whose decisions regarding federal constitutional law are binding on us, has held the defendant bears the burden of proving the identification procedure was impermissibly suggestive.”).

If the court finds, however, that the police used an impermissibly suggestive identification procedure, it must then determine whether the identification was nevertheless “so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed.” Liverman, 398 S.C. at 138, 727 S.E.2d at 426. The inquiry must focus upon whether, under the totality of the circumstances, there was a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. State v. Turner, 373 S.C. 121, 127, 644 S.E.2d 693, 696 (2007); Singleton, 395 S.C. at 13-14, 716 S.E.2d at 335-36. When determining the likelihood of misidentification, courts must evaluate the totality of the circumstances using the following factors: (1) the witness's opportunity to view the perpetrator at the time of the crime, (2) the witness's degree of attention, (3) the accuracy of the witness's prior description of the perpetrator, (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and (5) the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. Turner, 373 S.C. at 127, 644 S.E.2d at 697; Singleton, 395 S.C. at 13-14, 716 S.E.2d at 335-36.

In the instant case, Cruell testified at the original Neil v. Biggers hearing that she looked up the photographs of Appellant from the detention center database of her own

accord and identified him as the man from the Comfort Inn. Cruell testified nobody told her the person who was arrested was the same person she saw at the hotel and that when she saw the photograph she “immediately recognized him.” Judge John recited the relevant factors from Neil v. Biggers and ruled: “I do find in this, taking all of those factors and the facts described, that I will allow the in-court identification of the defendant by the witness.” (R.p.20, line 1-p.27, line 25). This finding constituted a finding that the identification procedure was not unnecessarily suggestive and that finding is clearly supported by the record. Appellant simply failed to carry his burden of proving the identification procedure was impermissibly suggestive.

On appeal, Appellant argues the circumstances of his case are similar to a single person show-up. He states: “An identification of a suspect by a witness who is presented one option, absent a line-up, is almost certainly unduly suggestive.” (Brief of Appellant, p.8). Appellant goes on to argue that because Cruell identified him from a single mug shot after being told he was in custody, because no other possibilities were considered, offered, or provided, and because there was no line-up of other possible suspects, the procedure employed was unduly suggestive. (Brief of Appellant, p. 9). However, this argument misses the point. A procedure cannot be suggestive where it was not “made under suggestive circumstances arranged by law enforcement.” Liverman, 398 S.C. at 134, 727 S.E.2d at 423 (emphasis added).

Here Cruell, who happens to be a police officer, chose to look up Appellant’s photo on her own. Nobody presented her with the photo or asked her to make the identification. Instead, she remembered the person she saw in the hotel lobby and sought out a photo of the individual subsequently arrested to see if he was that person she had

seen. There is nothing suggestive about this process because it was not arranged by law enforcement. Indeed, this Court has affirmed a trial court's finding that an identification procedure was not unduly suggestive precisely because it was not the result of "an act by the police of a suggestive manner." Dukes, 404 S.C. at 562, 745 S.E.2d at 142. In Dukes, the officer suggested the witness look at photographs in a "photo book" to see if he could identify the person who shot the victim. Id. at 556, 745 S.E.2d at 138. However, when the officer got up from the table to get the photo book, the witness saw other photographs in a file the officer left on the table and identified the defendant from one of the photographs in the officer's file. Id. This Court focused on the witness's testimony that the officer "did not present the photos to [the witness] or instruct him to choose one." Id. The trial court concluded the identification procedure was not impermissibly suggestive because: "It does not appear, even taking into consideration the report of the investigator, that there was any corrupting effect, that there was any intentional act, that there was any deliberate act, there was any act by the police of a suggestive manner." Dukes, 404 S.C. at 562-63, 745 S.E.2d at 142. Here, there likewise was not an act by the police of a suggestive manner. Since there was evidence to support the first trial court's decision, that court did not abuse its discretion in ruling the procedure was not impermissibly suggestive. Dukes, 404 S.C. at 563, 745 S.E.2d at 142.

Likewise, to extent she relied upon the ruling from the first trial, the second trial judge did not err in allowing Cruell to make an in-court identification of Appellant as the man who walked through the lobby of the Comfort Inn before the chase. Consequently, this Court should affirm the trial court's ruling and need not consider the second prong of Biggers. Id. To the extent this Court disagrees, the State submits there was also

sufficient evidence to support a conclusion that the out-of-court identification was reliable under the totality of the circumstances.

Appellant argues the identification made by Cruell was not reliable because she testified she paid attention “just briefly” and “didn’t pay a lot of attention to him.” Although Cruell’s description in the incident report was not one hundred percent consistent with Appellant’s appearance in the booking photographs she viewed, Cruell testified she observed Appellant for approximately one minute in a well-lit hotel lobby and “immediately recognized” him when she looked at his photo. Cruell had a good opportunity to view Appellant at the time he walked past. Her attention was likely heightened because she was investigating a possible stolen vehicle. Cruell gave a partially accurate description of the person, identifying him by both gender and race. Although she said he looked about 40, she also said he might have been younger. Cruell then testified she was certain she had made a correct identification from the photo. Finally, the identification was made only one day after the crime. Under the totality of the circumstances, Officer Cruell’s out-of-court and in-court identifications were both reliable. Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant’s motion to suppress the identification testimony, and Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

Harmless Error

Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). After an error is found, the appellate court must then review the other evidence considered at trial besides the erroneously admitted evidence. Baccus, 367 S.C. at 55,

625 S.E.2d at 223. Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008). An admission of improper evidence is considered harmless when it is merely cumulative to other properly admitted evidence. State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978). The harmlessness of an error in the admission of evidence generally depends on the materiality of the evidence in relation to the case as a whole. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003). “When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989).

Here, the State submits any error in the admission of the identification evidence from Cruell was harmless, cumulative to other evidence under his theory of defense, and not prejudicial. The identification by Cruell merely placed Appellant at the Comfort Inn before the police chase, evidence which was cumulative to and corroborated by Appellant’s own testimony. He admitted he was at the hotel before the chase, in the Yukon during the chase, and present during the shootout after the chase. See State v. Simmons, 308 S.C. 80, 83, 417 S.E.2d 92, 94 (1992) (“We note that, under certain circumstances, if the identification is corroborated by either circumstantial or direct evidence, then the harmless error rule might be applicable.”). Appellant admitted he was present both in his testimony and in his closing argument to the jury. (R.p.286, line 18-p.287, line 6). See State v. Kirkpatrick, 320 S.C. 38, 43, 462 S.E.2d 884, 888 (Ct. App. 1995) (“The erroneous admission of the key evidence was harmless inasmuch as Kirkpatrick admitted he rented the U-Haul in question and bought a lock, with two keys,

to put on it. Thus, the evidence of the key linking Kirkpatrick to the U-Haul was merely cumulative.”). Because the challenged identification evidence was cumulative to other properly-admitted evidence, any error in the admission of that identification evidence was completely harmless and could not have affected the result at trial. See Singleton, 395 S.C. at 14-15, 716 S.E.2d at 336 (finding harmless error in the admission of identification testimony where two co-conspirators testified against Singleton and identified him as a participant in the robbery). Furthermore, despite Appellant’s creative explanations at trial, the forensic evidence alone constituted overwhelming evidence of his guilt. Finally, the propriety of Appellant’s conviction is reinforced by the other protections he was afforded at trial, including his Sixth Amendment right to confront the eyewitness, his right to the effective assistance of an attorney who attempted to expose the flaws in Cruell’s testimony during cross-examination and during opening and closing arguments, and the constitutional requirement that the State prove Appellant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Liverman, 398 S.C. at 142-43, 727 S.E.2d at 428. For all of these reasons, Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the convictions and sentences of the lower court be affirmed.